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Foreword


This number of the Journal covers some objects of work done by the Archaeological group—a presentation by Mr. D. G. L. Millar. Following this is an article on Ships and Shipping based on a talk given to us during the year by Mr. Allan Kirk, and Mr. Jeff Newport gives the answers to many questions that have been asked concerning the Marsden family and "Isel." I hope our readers will be interested in this number of the Journal.





James A. Jenkins,


President,


Nelson Historical Society.
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Obituary







Lewis E. H. Baigent


Our Society deeply regrets the death of Lewis E. H. Baigent on the 21st of January, 1967. He was in his eightieth year.


He leaves behind him very happy memories. Those of us who were privileged to know him well are left with a great sense of loss


At our Annual Meeting he was asked to accept a life membership of the Society—an honour very highly deserved. We were so pleased to have his continued interest in the Society's activities until shortly before the brief illness preceding his death.




—J.A.J.









Thomas Reginald Jameson


Thomas Reginald Jameson was born in North Auckland in 1894.


He entered the Lands and Survey Department, and in 1949 came to Nelson, where he retired in 1954. He died, aged 71, in July, 1965.


About ten years ago he began to take an interest in the Historical Society and over the years he undertook an increasing amount of work. His meticulous training had fitted him very adequately for the work of cataloguing and card indexing, and this he did until two years before his death when a series of illnesses caused many periods of absence. The Society owes him a deep debt of gratitude for his painstaking care, and his thoughtful approach to the many problems he had to deal with.


Those of us who knew him well and had the privilege of his friendship can look back with great pleasure to a very happy association. A man of sterling character, forthright and kindly, makes one fully concur with the opinion expressed by a fellow bowler of his. "You can always trust Jamie, he will never let you down." What more can any man ask of his fellow men?




—J.A.J.
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Recent Archaeological Excavations in The Northern Part of The South Island


by D. G. L. 
Millar






With the arrival in New Zealand of European whalers, traders and settlers, the Maori, within the short span of a few years drastically changed his manner of living—readily adopting to his use European tools and weapons and sometimes leaving his former place of habitation to be closer to the coastal vantage points where the Pakeha congregated. Stone adzes were flung away in preference for steel tomahawks, jack plane blades or pieces of hoop iron. Wooden, bone and shell fish hooks were rapidly replaced by bent nails, forged spikes or real iron hooks, while European garments quickly cramped the movements of bodies used to the freedom afforded by Maori clothing. And so, in a relatively short space of time the material things of the old time Maori had become obsolete and of no further use to him. There were of course, notable exceptions to this, in the form of ornaments such as hei-tikis, and certain weapons which possessed "mana," but the frequency with which even these notable artifacts turn up in collections of Maori craftsmanship made in the early 1800's, indicates that their value to the Maori was fading.


The ever increasing tempo of inter-tribal warfare in the 18th and early 19th centuries did much also to force the abandonment of numerous pas and villages previously occupied. Sites where tribes or hapus may have lived for centuries, were abandoned for the less vulnerable positions of islands, peninsulas or hill tops.


Nature quickly covers the areas scarred by man's occupation and many sites occupied in the past by sizeable Maori populations, are no longer recognisable as such. The five sites which I wish to speak about tonight (all of them vitally important in the pre-history of Nelson) are ones which bear absolutely no superficial sign of the intense activity which must have taken place there hundreds of years ago. A walk across the famed Wairau Moa-hunter site near Blenheim is almost like walking across any stony Marlborough paddock in summer. A visit to the Heaphy River mouth on the West Coast Nikau palms, a few lupins and golden granite sand belie the presence of an Archaic Maori site beneath. The back lawn of a Tahunanui residence 30 yards from the Nelson-Richmond highway—between the fruit trees and the vegetable garden there is little to suggest the presence of one of Nelson's earliest settlements.





Before examining the five sites under consideration, let's consider some of the cultural changes which are known to have taken place in New Zealand's pre-history.


Two definite cultural phases have evolved in the course of archaeological investigations throughout New Zealand, the Moa-hunter or Archaic Maori phase and the late Maori or Classic Maori phase, the latter represented by the natives observed by the early European explorers to New Zealand. The preferred technical designations are New Zealand Eastern Polynesian I for the early culture and New Zealand Eastern Polynesian II for the later culture. But for convenience it is easier to refer to the first as the Archaic Maori and the second as Classic Maori.


Our most extensive picture of the earliest Polynesians in New Zealand is obtained from the Moa-hunter or Archaic site discovered by Jim Eyles some 25 years ago at the mouth of the Wairau River. Museum work over a period of years has substantiated the collection of material originally made by Mr. Eyles and although it would be presumptious to say the artifactual representation is complete, it is certainly the most extensive in the country. Because of the durability of stone and bone artifacts, these alone have survived to give us a picture of this early culture. Stone adzes from Wairau show that the Moa-hunters had a comprehensive and varied tool kit. Large quadrangular sectioned adzes with a definite provision at the butt end for lashing to a handle, adzes of triangular cross section and the side-hafted adze are typical. Because of their close association with the moa, these people made extensive use of the bird for food and for raw material for tools, fishing gear, ornaments and clothing. There is little evidence to suggest that the Archaic Maori cultivated the kumara and the lack of weapons in Archaic sites seems to indicate that population pressures had not yet developed sufficiently to cause inter-tribal fighting.


The Classic Maori culture is typified by the simplification of the adze form, adzes often being much smaller and lacking observable provision for lashing, the type 2B adze in Duff's classification being the predominant form. Greenstone was used more extensively and the development of ornaments was climaxed with such forms as the hei-tiki and hei-matau. Fishing gear had altered considerably with the emergence of a paua faced lure shank and bait hooks were predominantly of the composite type, with wooden shank and barbed bone point. Shell fish were consumed in large quantities, the exotic kumara was cultivated and elaborate defences and earthworks were thrown up around inaccessible vantage points to protect the tribe from ever increasing enemy attacks. The decorative arts, particularly wood carving had reached a high standard of development.










Excavations at Anapai


The Anapai site is situated on the West Coast of Tasman Bay in the area controlled by the Abel Tasman National Park Board. This Archaic site comprises a small midden fronting on to the beach at present being eroded at times by the sea. Large quantities of waste argillite flakes are common, indicating considerable adze manufacture and the common occurrence of chips from completed adzes would indicate wood working on the site. The stratum is essentially granite sand and in places the occupation layer is up to four feet thick. In the lower levels of the occupation the bones of the small Northern Bush Moa, Anomalopteryx didiformis) occur, while the rest of the midden material is comprised mainly of seal, rocky shore shellfish and bones of various bush and shore birds. Fragments of bone of the Polynesian Dog (Canis familiaris) are present and it is interesting to note the occurrence of an undescribed kaka also. Mr. Ron Scarlett of the Canterbury Museum has identified this undescribed species from some other sites as well. Artifacts were not common during the execavation but the presence of typical Moa-hunter adze fragments, a typical Moa-hunter one piece fish hook and the association of moa bones with human occupation, definitely established this site as being Archaic Maori. Insufficient material was obtained for carbon dating but indications are that the site would probably be late Archaic.







Heaphy River Excavations


Situated at the mouth of the Heaphy River in North-west Nelson this is one of the most picturesque sites imaginable. The river carves its way through rugged limestone and granite country to the sea and large groves of nikau palms growing almost to the coastal edge, enhance the tropical atmosphere of the area. If one can bear with the over-sized sandflies, this is indeed a most pleasant area in which to excavate.


The site, an Archaic one, probably covered several acres originally, but considerable river erosion over the past few years has carried away much of the site. Continuing erosion threatened the rest of the site, so main excavations were carried out during 1963 and 1964.


The occupation layer varied from 10 to 24 inches thick and was composed mainly of intensely black charcoally sand, while towards the bottom of the occupation layer occurred hundreds of granite stones which had been carried from the river to serve as oven stones. Three caches of adzes were excavated from beneath this oven stone layer and many oven pits were excavated and plotted in the clean granite sand beneath the oven stones. The most interesting structures excavated at the Heaphy were three stone pavements composed of flattish slabs of granite and limestone. These pavements were of no great size; the largest being approximately 

nine feet across. As these occurred in an area obviously used as a workshop area, their significance remained obscure until four days of continuous West Coast rain led to the conviction that the pavements were intended to keep the Archaic craftsmen and their equipment out of the granite slush. Carbon dating for the site stands at 1518 A.D. plus or minus 70 years, and this date together with the site's closer proximity to the West Coast sources of greenstone, accounts for the relatively high incidence of greenstone artifacts excavated on this Archaic site. Lure shanks were manufactured on the site and if they were used there, which is most likely, one can only admire the skill of the Archaic Maoris in guiding their canoes through the West Coast breakers. Anomolpteryx and Emeus crassus are the moas represented in the midden material from this site.







The Wairau Moa-Hunter Camp


This is indeed the most interesting Archaic site in New Zealand and the one with which the general public is most familiar. The grave offering found with burials of chiefly rank comprise some of the finest known Archaic artifacts. A great deal has been written about this site and I am sure that many of you will be familiar with Dr. Duff's book, "The Moa-hunter Period of Maori Culture." The site is a very large one, extending over 20 to 30 acres and it is the opinion of one authority that in Moa-hunter times the site was considerably larger, extending Northwards into the area now cut into by the Wairau River.


Resultant work from the excavations of 1963 and 1964 has been concerned mainly with the analysis of waste stone flakes and shell midden analysis. It is hoped that from the shell sampling it will be possible to obtain some idea of the total protein consumed on the site and perhaps an indication of population figures. An estimate has been made from the fragments of moa-egg shell found, that some 2,380 moa eggs were consumed. This would be a minimum figure, based on the average surface area of an egg as 140 square inches. From the waste flakes collected and examined, an estimated 30 tons of waste argillite litter the site. Wellman considers that in the manufacture of an average sized adze weighing 1½lbs., six pounds of waste flakes would result. This implies that some 3,000 adzes were manufactured at Wairau. These figures must not be taken too literally, but they do give some idea of the extent of the site.







The Archaic Site at Tahunanui


No two Maori sites are ever the same. Each one has its own peculiarities of stratigraphy, topography, artifact and midden composition and so on. The site at Tahunanui is no exception to this. Being on the property of relatives, it is the only site I know of where one is assured of "on-the-spot" accommodation and morning and afternoon cups of tea.





The site itself is situated next to the Tahunanui Post Office and in Maori times would have been only a few yards from the sea. Levelling and filling-in on various parts of the property have destroyed the original topography, but it is also possible that these same processes have removed much of the post-Maori accumulation of sand and soil. Argillite flakes were observable in the vegetable garden and so early in 1964 a trial excavation of a five foot square was made—in the centre of the back lawn. To date some 400 square feet of the site have been excavated.


In some places the occupation layer is less than two inches below the surface and the average dept of the occupation is 6–8 inches. In spite of the comparative shallowness of the occupation layer, the density of artifacts has been quite high. As one would expect, the site's close proximity to the Maori argillite quarries of the Nelson mineral belt has meant that considerable pre-occupation with adze manufacture has taken place. Waste argillite flakes litter the occupation layer with considerable density and broken portions of "roughed-out" adzes are common artifacts. Obviously, the vast majority of adzes were being prepared for trade, or certainly for removal to another site, as few completed adzes have been excavated so far and those which have come to light have been small and somewhat insignificant, but typically Archaic in form. In the future the study of these waste argillite flakes is going to assume increasing importance as it may be possible to determine trade routes, match varying kinds of argillites to their quarry sources and possibly even determine the extent of tribal diffusions or movements in pretraditional times. The argillite which occurs at the bottom of the occupation at Tahunanui is of the light grey variety—usually called D'Urville Island argillite, but as one rises through the layer, another type, presumably from a Whangamoa or Maitai source, replaces the light grey variety. Comparison with two other sites reveals a similar change but a great deal of work needs to be done before firm conclusions can be made. Boxes of flakes from Tahunanui and Cable Bay will probably be worked on by members of the Archaeological Group this winter.


The commonest artifact at Tahunanui is the argillite drill point. So far, over 150 of these have been catalogued. Their primary use was in the manufacture of one-piece fish hooks made from moa bone. A series of holes was drilled in the central portion of the bone tab and the resultant "core" snapped out. By using this method of manufacture, considerable time was saved in filing the hook into shape. The high density of drill points indicates the manufacture of considerable numbers of fish hooks on the site and the amount of snapper, kahawai and barracouta bones present in the occupation layer indicate the effectiveness of the fishing gear manufactured. Predatory "school" fish such as kahawai and bara-couta were caught by using a lure hook—a small stone shank shaped 

like a small fish with an unbarbed bone point attached, was trolled through the water enticing the fish to strike. Several of these characteristically Archaic lure shanks are represented.


Several of the bone fish hooks from this site have been made from moa bone and fragments or the Northern Bush Moa occur in the midden. Other creatures which have contributed to the food supply of the occupants include the Polynesian Dog, Southern Fur Seal, Weka, N.Z. Pigeon, Spotted Shag and several other sea birds.


Evidence of man made structures has been restricted to two fire pits (not haangi) from which charcoal has been obtained for future carbon dating analysis. The presence of greenstone is represented by a small polished fragment of nephrite and a finely made, well polished chisel from the bottom of the occupation layer. The latter artifact is unusual in that it has been designed as a dual purpose tool, being chisel-shaped at one end and gouge-shaped at the other. This small chisel may well be representative of the scarcity of greenstone during the Archaic period.







Rotokura — an Archaic and Classic Maori Site at Cable Bay


This site differs from the previous ones discussed, in that it represents both the Archaic and Classic phases of Maori Culture. This type of site is not yet well represented in archaeological investigations. We have Mr. R. Tobin to thank for bringing this site to my notice last year and the Archaeological sub-committee unanimously agreed to its immediate excavation in view of its importance to Nelson's pre-history. The property owner, Mr. F. D. Stuart, has been extremely co-operative and has been of considerable assistance on many occasions.


The early Maori name for the small lagoon which lies adjacent to the site is Rotokura—Red Lake—certainly a more euphonius name for the site than Cable Bay, and one too which localises the site more efficiently.


The surrounding topography—lagoon, boulder beach and hillside—has had the effect of restricting the Maori inhabitants to a semi-flat area measuring approximately 35 yards long by 20 yards wide. This has reduced considerably the scatter of occupational residue and consequently the concentration of artifacts, midden refuse and structures has been considerable. To date, approximately 550 square feet of the site has been excavated and an impressive list of artifacts has been catalogued. The natural stratum consists mainly of beach boulders and this makes for extremely difficult excavation in some areas of the site. The clean-cut work of the Heaphy excavation is almost impossible to duplicate at Rotokura.


Although no carbon dating (or any other form of dating) has yet been carried out for the site it would seem reasonable to assume, in view of the present evidence, that Rotokura was first occupied 

some 500 to 600 years ago. The first inhabitants were undoubtedly Archaic or Moa-hunter Maoris. The first meals eaten on the site comprised at least three of the seven genera of moa. Large, often long, flake knives of argillite have been found among the moa bones. These quickly made, but effective tools, would be used for cutting up moa flesh and dismembering the Southern Fur Seal, the bones of which also occur in quantity in the earliest occupation. One piece bait hooks were made from the thick walled upper leg bones of the moa and many fragments of these hooks have been excavated. Some have been broken during the manufacture while others have been broken during use. Fishing lure shanks made from bone and a variety of stone are well represented in the Archaic layer. A variety of shellfish was eaten, but at a time when the moa and seal provided a plentiful food supply, shellfish did not form an important constituent of the Archaic Maoris' diet. The Polynesian Dog is also represented in the earliest occupation and several bones with gnawed surfaces, indicate the presence of the Polynesian Rat. Adzes were manufactured mainly from argillite, although some of greywacke occur. The occurrence of completed adze portions indicates far more than an adze manufacturing centre, but the restricted nature of the site does not support the idea of a sizeable population in Archaic times. It seems far more reasonable to assume that the site was occupied only seasonally and that the main settlement area existed somewhere else, within a radius of say, four or five miles. A cache of three argillite adzes has been found in the Archaic level and two of these are typical of the massive quadrangular adzes manufactured in Archaic times. As Archaic occupation progresses, moa and seal bones gradually diminish and artifacts previously made from green or fresh moa bone, are now being rendered in old or sub-fossil bone. It seems quite possible that the decline in moa bone supply was responsible for certain changes in the manufacture of bait fish hooks. Large pieces of bone were no longer available for the manufacture of one-piece hooks and so the hook was made from two smaller portions of bone, one piece being drilled to take a lashing, and the two pieces were then lashed together to form an all bone composite bait hook. Later still in Classic Maori times when the only sizeable bone readily available was human, the bait hook consisted of a curved wooden shank with a small barbed bone point attached. It must be pointed out that this is as yet unproven, but seems to be borne out by excavations at Rotokura.


Some 60 to 70% of the occupation at Rotokura can be assigned to the Archaic phase, and then unfortunately due to lack of artifacts, an indeterminate zone of occupation occurs, before the Classic Maori phase is represented close to the surface. It had been hoped that some light would be cast on the transitional period between Archaic and Classic cultures but this has not yet been the case. The Classic 

phase at Rotokura is undoubtedly representative of tribal invasions from the North. Adzes are still of argillite, but are generally much smaller and are Type 2B in Duff's classification (the typical adze of the Classic Maori). Fishing gear is represented by the small barbed bone points of composite fish hooks, some of these being manufactured from dogs' teeth which require little modification. Shellfish now predominate in the middens, with a wide range of mud-flat, sandy beach and rocky shore species being represented. Bird spear points and small bird bone fragments are more numerous than in the Archaic context and small polished fragments of greenstone tools are present. Drill points are less numerous than in the Archaic occupation which is understandable in view of the change in fish hook type. European contact is represented by the presence on top of the occupation layer, of portions of the stem of a clay pipe and some very rusty pieces of an old iron "go-ashore" pot of the type commonly used by sailing ship crews.


The picture which is emerging, of the sudden termination of Maori occupation at Rotokura is indeed an interesting one. Although historically unsubstantiated, it is most likely that Te Rauparaha and his allies were responsible. The scattered fragments of a finely made patu onewa (stone club) probably testify to the vengeful destruction of a weapon which was raised against the invaders, while a few smashed fragments of human skull tell an even sadder tale of the fate of at least one defender.


Undoubtedly one of the most interesting features of the site at Rotokura is the association with man of three different kinds or genera of moa. The presence of the small Northern Bush Moa (Anomalopteryx didiformis) is not unexpected as it had previously been recorded from the Tahunanui and Anapai Archaic sites, but the presence of Dinornis torosus (a representative of the large moas) is most notable. Although remains of this large bird have occurred in occasional middens in the North and South Islands, its distribution in association with human occupation has been most limited, and until a few years ago, Dinornis was believed to be extinct prior to the arrival of the Polynesians in New Zealand. Megalapteryx, the other moa represented on the site, can be likened in many ways to a giant kiwi. This South Island bird is far more characteristic of the southern part of the island. Two other extinct birds represented in the midden material are the extinct swan and the little extinct weka.


I am indebted to Mr. R. J. Scarlett of the Canterbury Museum, for his identification of the bone material.
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Our most extensive picture of the earliest Polynesians in New Zealand is obtained from the Moa-hunter or Archaic site discovered by Jim Eyles some 25 years ago at the mouth of the Wairau River. Museum work over a period of years has substantiated the collection of material originally made by Mr. Eyles and although it would be presumptious to say the artifactual representation is complete, it is certainly the most extensive in the country. Because of the durability of stone and bone artifacts, these alone have survived to give us a picture of this early culture. Stone adzes from Wairau show that the Moa-hunters had a comprehensive and varied tool kit. Large quadrangular sectioned adzes with a definite provision at the butt end for lashing to a handle, adzes of triangular cross section and the side-hafted adze are typical. Because of their close association with the moa, these people made extensive use of the bird for food and for raw material for tools, fishing gear, ornaments and clothing. There is little evidence to suggest that the Archaic Maori cultivated the kumara and the lack of weapons in Archaic sites seems to indicate that population pressures had not yet developed sufficiently to cause inter-tribal fighting.


The Classic Maori culture is typified by the simplification of the adze form, adzes often being much smaller and lacking observable provision for lashing, the type 2B adze in Duff's classification being the predominant form. Greenstone was used more extensively and the development of ornaments was climaxed with such forms as the hei-tiki and hei-matau. Fishing gear had altered considerably with the emergence of a paua faced lure shank and bait hooks were predominantly of the composite type, with wooden shank and barbed bone point. Shell fish were consumed in large quantities, the exotic kumara was cultivated and elaborate defences and earthworks were thrown up around inaccessible vantage points to protect the tribe from ever increasing enemy attacks. The decorative arts, particularly wood carving had reached a high standard of development.
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Excavations at Anapai


The Anapai site is situated on the West Coast of Tasman Bay in the area controlled by the Abel Tasman National Park Board. This Archaic site comprises a small midden fronting on to the beach at present being eroded at times by the sea. Large quantities of waste argillite flakes are common, indicating considerable adze manufacture and the common occurrence of chips from completed adzes would indicate wood working on the site. The stratum is essentially granite sand and in places the occupation layer is up to four feet thick. In the lower levels of the occupation the bones of the small Northern Bush Moa, Anomalopteryx didiformis) occur, while the rest of the midden material is comprised mainly of seal, rocky shore shellfish and bones of various bush and shore birds. Fragments of bone of the Polynesian Dog (Canis familiaris) are present and it is interesting to note the occurrence of an undescribed kaka also. Mr. Ron Scarlett of the Canterbury Museum has identified this undescribed species from some other sites as well. Artifacts were not common during the execavation but the presence of typical Moa-hunter adze fragments, a typical Moa-hunter one piece fish hook and the association of moa bones with human occupation, definitely established this site as being Archaic Maori. Insufficient material was obtained for carbon dating but indications are that the site would probably be late Archaic.
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Heaphy River Excavations


Situated at the mouth of the Heaphy River in North-west Nelson this is one of the most picturesque sites imaginable. The river carves its way through rugged limestone and granite country to the sea and large groves of nikau palms growing almost to the coastal edge, enhance the tropical atmosphere of the area. If one can bear with the over-sized sandflies, this is indeed a most pleasant area in which to excavate.


The site, an Archaic one, probably covered several acres originally, but considerable river erosion over the past few years has carried away much of the site. Continuing erosion threatened the rest of the site, so main excavations were carried out during 1963 and 1964.


The occupation layer varied from 10 to 24 inches thick and was composed mainly of intensely black charcoally sand, while towards the bottom of the occupation layer occurred hundreds of granite stones which had been carried from the river to serve as oven stones. Three caches of adzes were excavated from beneath this oven stone layer and many oven pits were excavated and plotted in the clean granite sand beneath the oven stones. The most interesting structures excavated at the Heaphy were three stone pavements composed of flattish slabs of granite and limestone. These pavements were of no great size; the largest being approximately 

nine feet across. As these occurred in an area obviously used as a workshop area, their significance remained obscure until four days of continuous West Coast rain led to the conviction that the pavements were intended to keep the Archaic craftsmen and their equipment out of the granite slush. Carbon dating for the site stands at 1518 A.D. plus or minus 70 years, and this date together with the site's closer proximity to the West Coast sources of greenstone, accounts for the relatively high incidence of greenstone artifacts excavated on this Archaic site. Lure shanks were manufactured on the site and if they were used there, which is most likely, one can only admire the skill of the Archaic Maoris in guiding their canoes through the West Coast breakers. Anomolpteryx and Emeus crassus are the moas represented in the midden material from this site.










Victoria University of Wellington Library




Nelson Historical Society Journal, Volume 2, Issue 2, June 1967

The Wairau Moa-Hunter Camp





The Wairau Moa-Hunter Camp


This is indeed the most interesting Archaic site in New Zealand and the one with which the general public is most familiar. The grave offering found with burials of chiefly rank comprise some of the finest known Archaic artifacts. A great deal has been written about this site and I am sure that many of you will be familiar with Dr. Duff's book, "The Moa-hunter Period of Maori Culture." The site is a very large one, extending over 20 to 30 acres and it is the opinion of one authority that in Moa-hunter times the site was considerably larger, extending Northwards into the area now cut into by the Wairau River.


Resultant work from the excavations of 1963 and 1964 has been concerned mainly with the analysis of waste stone flakes and shell midden analysis. It is hoped that from the shell sampling it will be possible to obtain some idea of the total protein consumed on the site and perhaps an indication of population figures. An estimate has been made from the fragments of moa-egg shell found, that some 2,380 moa eggs were consumed. This would be a minimum figure, based on the average surface area of an egg as 140 square inches. From the waste flakes collected and examined, an estimated 30 tons of waste argillite litter the site. Wellman considers that in the manufacture of an average sized adze weighing 1½lbs., six pounds of waste flakes would result. This implies that some 3,000 adzes were manufactured at Wairau. These figures must not be taken too literally, but they do give some idea of the extent of the site.
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The Archaic Site at Tahunanui


No two Maori sites are ever the same. Each one has its own peculiarities of stratigraphy, topography, artifact and midden composition and so on. The site at Tahunanui is no exception to this. Being on the property of relatives, it is the only site I know of where one is assured of "on-the-spot" accommodation and morning and afternoon cups of tea.





The site itself is situated next to the Tahunanui Post Office and in Maori times would have been only a few yards from the sea. Levelling and filling-in on various parts of the property have destroyed the original topography, but it is also possible that these same processes have removed much of the post-Maori accumulation of sand and soil. Argillite flakes were observable in the vegetable garden and so early in 1964 a trial excavation of a five foot square was made—in the centre of the back lawn. To date some 400 square feet of the site have been excavated.


In some places the occupation layer is less than two inches below the surface and the average dept of the occupation is 6–8 inches. In spite of the comparative shallowness of the occupation layer, the density of artifacts has been quite high. As one would expect, the site's close proximity to the Maori argillite quarries of the Nelson mineral belt has meant that considerable pre-occupation with adze manufacture has taken place. Waste argillite flakes litter the occupation layer with considerable density and broken portions of "roughed-out" adzes are common artifacts. Obviously, the vast majority of adzes were being prepared for trade, or certainly for removal to another site, as few completed adzes have been excavated so far and those which have come to light have been small and somewhat insignificant, but typically Archaic in form. In the future the study of these waste argillite flakes is going to assume increasing importance as it may be possible to determine trade routes, match varying kinds of argillites to their quarry sources and possibly even determine the extent of tribal diffusions or movements in pretraditional times. The argillite which occurs at the bottom of the occupation at Tahunanui is of the light grey variety—usually called D'Urville Island argillite, but as one rises through the layer, another type, presumably from a Whangamoa or Maitai source, replaces the light grey variety. Comparison with two other sites reveals a similar change but a great deal of work needs to be done before firm conclusions can be made. Boxes of flakes from Tahunanui and Cable Bay will probably be worked on by members of the Archaeological Group this winter.


The commonest artifact at Tahunanui is the argillite drill point. So far, over 150 of these have been catalogued. Their primary use was in the manufacture of one-piece fish hooks made from moa bone. A series of holes was drilled in the central portion of the bone tab and the resultant "core" snapped out. By using this method of manufacture, considerable time was saved in filing the hook into shape. The high density of drill points indicates the manufacture of considerable numbers of fish hooks on the site and the amount of snapper, kahawai and barracouta bones present in the occupation layer indicate the effectiveness of the fishing gear manufactured. Predatory "school" fish such as kahawai and bara-couta were caught by using a lure hook—a small stone shank shaped 

like a small fish with an unbarbed bone point attached, was trolled through the water enticing the fish to strike. Several of these characteristically Archaic lure shanks are represented.


Several of the bone fish hooks from this site have been made from moa bone and fragments or the Northern Bush Moa occur in the midden. Other creatures which have contributed to the food supply of the occupants include the Polynesian Dog, Southern Fur Seal, Weka, N.Z. Pigeon, Spotted Shag and several other sea birds.


Evidence of man made structures has been restricted to two fire pits (not haangi) from which charcoal has been obtained for future carbon dating analysis. The presence of greenstone is represented by a small polished fragment of nephrite and a finely made, well polished chisel from the bottom of the occupation layer. The latter artifact is unusual in that it has been designed as a dual purpose tool, being chisel-shaped at one end and gouge-shaped at the other. This small chisel may well be representative of the scarcity of greenstone during the Archaic period.
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Rotokura — an Archaic and Classic Maori Site at Cable Bay


This site differs from the previous ones discussed, in that it represents both the Archaic and Classic phases of Maori Culture. This type of site is not yet well represented in archaeological investigations. We have Mr. R. Tobin to thank for bringing this site to my notice last year and the Archaeological sub-committee unanimously agreed to its immediate excavation in view of its importance to Nelson's pre-history. The property owner, Mr. F. D. Stuart, has been extremely co-operative and has been of considerable assistance on many occasions.


The early Maori name for the small lagoon which lies adjacent to the site is Rotokura—Red Lake—certainly a more euphonius name for the site than Cable Bay, and one too which localises the site more efficiently.


The surrounding topography—lagoon, boulder beach and hillside—has had the effect of restricting the Maori inhabitants to a semi-flat area measuring approximately 35 yards long by 20 yards wide. This has reduced considerably the scatter of occupational residue and consequently the concentration of artifacts, midden refuse and structures has been considerable. To date, approximately 550 square feet of the site has been excavated and an impressive list of artifacts has been catalogued. The natural stratum consists mainly of beach boulders and this makes for extremely difficult excavation in some areas of the site. The clean-cut work of the Heaphy excavation is almost impossible to duplicate at Rotokura.


Although no carbon dating (or any other form of dating) has yet been carried out for the site it would seem reasonable to assume, in view of the present evidence, that Rotokura was first occupied 

some 500 to 600 years ago. The first inhabitants were undoubtedly Archaic or Moa-hunter Maoris. The first meals eaten on the site comprised at least three of the seven genera of moa. Large, often long, flake knives of argillite have been found among the moa bones. These quickly made, but effective tools, would be used for cutting up moa flesh and dismembering the Southern Fur Seal, the bones of which also occur in quantity in the earliest occupation. One piece bait hooks were made from the thick walled upper leg bones of the moa and many fragments of these hooks have been excavated. Some have been broken during the manufacture while others have been broken during use. Fishing lure shanks made from bone and a variety of stone are well represented in the Archaic layer. A variety of shellfish was eaten, but at a time when the moa and seal provided a plentiful food supply, shellfish did not form an important constituent of the Archaic Maoris' diet. The Polynesian Dog is also represented in the earliest occupation and several bones with gnawed surfaces, indicate the presence of the Polynesian Rat. Adzes were manufactured mainly from argillite, although some of greywacke occur. The occurrence of completed adze portions indicates far more than an adze manufacturing centre, but the restricted nature of the site does not support the idea of a sizeable population in Archaic times. It seems far more reasonable to assume that the site was occupied only seasonally and that the main settlement area existed somewhere else, within a radius of say, four or five miles. A cache of three argillite adzes has been found in the Archaic level and two of these are typical of the massive quadrangular adzes manufactured in Archaic times. As Archaic occupation progresses, moa and seal bones gradually diminish and artifacts previously made from green or fresh moa bone, are now being rendered in old or sub-fossil bone. It seems quite possible that the decline in moa bone supply was responsible for certain changes in the manufacture of bait fish hooks. Large pieces of bone were no longer available for the manufacture of one-piece hooks and so the hook was made from two smaller portions of bone, one piece being drilled to take a lashing, and the two pieces were then lashed together to form an all bone composite bait hook. Later still in Classic Maori times when the only sizeable bone readily available was human, the bait hook consisted of a curved wooden shank with a small barbed bone point attached. It must be pointed out that this is as yet unproven, but seems to be borne out by excavations at Rotokura.


Some 60 to 70% of the occupation at Rotokura can be assigned to the Archaic phase, and then unfortunately due to lack of artifacts, an indeterminate zone of occupation occurs, before the Classic Maori phase is represented close to the surface. It had been hoped that some light would be cast on the transitional period between Archaic and Classic cultures but this has not yet been the case. The Classic 

phase at Rotokura is undoubtedly representative of tribal invasions from the North. Adzes are still of argillite, but are generally much smaller and are Type 2B in Duff's classification (the typical adze of the Classic Maori). Fishing gear is represented by the small barbed bone points of composite fish hooks, some of these being manufactured from dogs' teeth which require little modification. Shellfish now predominate in the middens, with a wide range of mud-flat, sandy beach and rocky shore species being represented. Bird spear points and small bird bone fragments are more numerous than in the Archaic context and small polished fragments of greenstone tools are present. Drill points are less numerous than in the Archaic occupation which is understandable in view of the change in fish hook type. European contact is represented by the presence on top of the occupation layer, of portions of the stem of a clay pipe and some very rusty pieces of an old iron "go-ashore" pot of the type commonly used by sailing ship crews.


The picture which is emerging, of the sudden termination of Maori occupation at Rotokura is indeed an interesting one. Although historically unsubstantiated, it is most likely that Te Rauparaha and his allies were responsible. The scattered fragments of a finely made patu onewa (stone club) probably testify to the vengeful destruction of a weapon which was raised against the invaders, while a few smashed fragments of human skull tell an even sadder tale of the fate of at least one defender.


Undoubtedly one of the most interesting features of the site at Rotokura is the association with man of three different kinds or genera of moa. The presence of the small Northern Bush Moa (Anomalopteryx didiformis) is not unexpected as it had previously been recorded from the Tahunanui and Anapai Archaic sites, but the presence of Dinornis torosus (a representative of the large moas) is most notable. Although remains of this large bird have occurred in occasional middens in the North and South Islands, its distribution in association with human occupation has been most limited, and until a few years ago, Dinornis was believed to be extinct prior to the arrival of the Polynesians in New Zealand. Megalapteryx, the other moa represented on the site, can be likened in many ways to a giant kiwi. This South Island bird is far more characteristic of the southern part of the island. Two other extinct birds represented in the midden material are the extinct swan and the little extinct weka.


I am indebted to Mr. R. J. Scarlett of the Canterbury Museum, for his identification of the bone material.
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"Ships & Sailormen"


by A. A. 
Kirk






The lecturer began his most interesting and instructive address by recalling a visit he had from a former Nelsonian, Mr. Arthur Sheat. Mr. Sheat was a descendant of the late F. J. Thompson who was a surveyor and had paid the N.Z. Company for 201 acres of land before leaving England. In company with his shipmate, J. W. Barnicoat, he later surveyed much of the land in the Wairau and Waimea Plains. Other interesting first class passengers who sat at the captain's table on this voyage out on the Lord Auckland were Mr. and Mrs. A. G. Jenkins, Mr. and Mrs. F. Otterson and Mr. Alfred Fell who kept a diary which has since been published. By no stretch of imagination could this voyage be called a wholly pleasant one, but they kept their minds exercised with periodic debates and other cultural activities. The master, Captain Jardine, did not make things any easier either; he was not at all popular and absolutely forbade any first class passenger to fraternise with the immigrants between decks. Still they survived and after a trip that started on 25th September, 1841, they finally arrived at Nelson on 23rd February, 1842.


"It is interesting to note that in February, 1842, 764 immigrants were landed at the port and by the end of the year the number had reached 2000. And while I pondered on this," said Mr. Kirk, "I thought it might be interesting to find out just how Nelson was faring with other ports of New Zealand during this early period of colonisation. I was amazed at what I found. During 1842 at least 12 immigrant ships arriving direct from England while Auckland had three and Wellington five. In the first four years it was Nelson 31, Auckland 8, New Plymouth 5, Wellington 15 while Lyttelton and Port Chalmers had none. During 1858, sixteen years after the founding of the settlement, Nelson was still holding its own when the figures in the same order were: 52, 66, 54, 78, 37 and 28, and although Nelson's figures tapered off in later years, the interesting fact remains that sailing ships scheduled to travel from Britain to Nelson direct, kept coming till a little past the turn of the century.


"During this particular period of maritime history, there were some remarkable performances put up by many of these ships and some equally remarkable captains. Outstanding amongst these was Captain Petheridge who became a regular visitor to Nelson in such vessels as Maori, Napier and the Countess of Kintore. He took the Maori as a brand new ship to Nelson in 1851, again in 1853 on a passage of 88 days; but in the barque Napier he put up an all time record by covering the same distance in 83 days. This was in 1863 and it was on this same trip that he brought 70 pairs of starlings, skylarks, blackbirds, thrushes, goldfinches for your provincial Government.





"Other interesting vessels to make direct trips were Edwin Fox, which has so recently burst into the news again, in 1878; the Halcione with five visits, 1887–94; May Queen, 1885 and 1886, later wrecked at Lyttelton Heads in 1888; Lutterworth, 6 visits 1876–94; Hermione, 4 visits 1895–1904; Helen Denny, 4 visits 1876–94; Asterion, 10 visit 1887–99; and Mataura, the first N.Z. Shipping Co. vessel to carry frozen meat io U.K., 1875. There was keen competition between the rival companies for the honour of carrying the first cargo of frozen meat to England and in the end, it was the Shaw SaviN's Dunedin thai won the race. On the other hand it is also recorded the Maiaura did in fact try out her freezer first when on her outward journey to N.Z., a strange fish was caught in mid-Atiantic and kept in good condition till the vessel arrived in Lyttelton when it was handed over to (he Canterbury Museum—a fact that has been confirmed by Dr. R. A. Faiia, now in charge of the Dominion Museum. The fish turned out to be a bona fide tuna.


"Another notable vessel to visit Neison in 1905 and 1906 was the ship Westiand. Under the indomitable Captain Kelly she made history in winning many of the wool ship races but her most notable performance occurred in 1894. She was the last of 20 sailing vessels to leave New Zealand loaded with wool, yet she reached the Old Country 22 days ahead of any of the others, making 330 and 340 miles on several days and completing the distance in 72 days. In cases like this it could well be asked: 'Well, was it the ship or the master that was responsible for such performances'? The answer is dearly, 'both', with perhaps a little more emphasis on the master. Some masters are gifted in knowing just how much they can get Out of a vessel and this combined with their scientific knowledge of currents, tides and weather can make them more successful than others.


"There was another interesting ship that had special significance for Nelson, she was the Queen Bee. After making 10 trips to N.Z. and one to Nelson, she was bound for Nelson direct on her eleventh voyage when she stranded on Farewell Spit and became a total wreck, in the rescue operations that followed the well known steamships, Lady Barkiy, Lyttelton and Manawatu took part,


"What about the coastal and Tasman trade to and from Australia? For a long time Nelsonians had to be satisfied with schooners, brigantines and ketches., including the little schooner, Comet, that made so many trips from Sydney to Nelson direct with sheep and cattle between 1848 and 1853; similarly with the barque Henrietta Nathan which carried out like missions and the Lady Mary Pelham which on one occasion brought 1,000 ewes and seven msres across from Launceston. It was a great achievement to have done this with so few losses.







[image: S.S.A. Co. barque Asterion being towed through old Entrance by Anchor Co.'s Charles Edward (about year 1890).—Tyree Collection.]
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Asterion being towed through old Entrance by Anchor Co.'s 
Charles Edward (about year 1890).
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Cutters, ketches and two topsail schooners at Waitapu wharf, Golden Bay (about year 1880).

Can ony reader identify these vessels?

—Tyree Collection







"The first steamships to arrive at Nelson were from Her Majesty's avy. The Inflexible, 1847, was the first steamship to enter the port and while this was followed by Havannah, Calliope and Pandora, it was H.M.S. Acheron that carried out the first survey of Nelson harbour from 24th August to 5th September, 1849. This turned out to be a most valuable piece of work and although further surveys have since been made, this was, at least, a start.


"Then came the first commercial steamer in the shape of the S.S. Ann on Sunday, 28th August, 1853, after a voyage of seven days from Sydney. This gave the people of Nelson fresh ideas and for the next few years they were loud in their demands for steamships. But although there were half-hearted attempts to satisfy this demand, the fact remains that they had to wait for another five years before these steamships came regularly. In the meantime they had to be satisfied with brigantines and schooners."


Mr. Kirk referred to Superintendent Stafford's efforts to get steamer services for Nelson without much success and then continued: "But it just so happened that Nelson got its coastal and transTasman steamer services from a most unexpected source. A company styling itself with the impressive title of The International Royal Mail Steam Packet Co., entered the scene with its steamers Prince Alfred, Lord Worsley, Lord Ashley and Airedale, and what is more, Nelson became the first and last port of call for those that crossed the Tasman and was nearly always included by this company's costai vessels. All this started in 1858.


"Other companies entered the field and towards the mid-sixties, it seemed that Nelson had almost a surfeit of steamships and apart from the four already mentioned there were such familiar names as Wellington, Taranaki, Lady Bird and Stormbird. Then in 1875 the arrival of McMeekan and Blackwood's fine vessels Ringarooma and Arawata. In this same year the Union Steam Ship Company of N.Z was formed and its first contribution to the trade of Nelson was with the Maori 1, which completely circumnavigated the South Island every fortnight—tarting at Port Chalmers proceeding north via Oamaru, Timaru, Akaroa, Lyttelton, Wellington, etc. But although Nelson may have had to thank the Union Company for many blessings over the years, it was this same line that discontinued the practice of making Nelson the last port of call for Australia.


"In spite of difficulties, however, Nelson was still included in the long coastal runs which for many years followed the original pattern up the east coast of the South Island and then up the west of the North Island to Onehunga and return. In later years the Union Company inaugurated a very regular service between Wellington and Nelson via Picton and at the same time ran another two passenger ships right through to Westport and Greymouth with calls here on the way. How well oldtimers remember those popular vessels, Penguin, Mawhera, Mapourika, Arahura, Rotoiti, Pateena and others which served this port so well.





"In the year 1921, the Union Company began gradually to withdraw its passenger vessels from the Nelson run when the Anchor Company purchased the Mapourika and renamed her Ngaio. By 1925 when a similar bid was made by our Nelson company for the Arahura, the Union Company confined its service to cargo vessels. From that year till 1953 the steamer express service to Wellington was provided by the Anchor Shipping Company.


"Perhaps I should have mentioned the Anchor Company a little earlier in this recital; but I make brief reference to it now. I say "brief" because as most of you will realise, the record of this company is a story in itself. It did for the ports of Cook Strait, Tasman Bay and the West Coast much the same as the Northern Steam Ship Co. did for the Auckland Province. In fact the debt that the earlier settlers of the Nelson and Westland Provinces owe to the Anchor Company is immeasurable.


"Celebrating its centennial in 1962, the Anchor Company is now the oldest established shipping company in New Zealand."


Mr. Kirk then turned his attention to important sailormen who made notable contributions to the welfare of the district. He first mentioned Alexander Brown, that remarkable young man who came out on the Lyttelton and had arranged to be put ashore at Queenstown, Ireland, following the vessel's protracted and devastating journey down the English Channel; but the captain could not make this port so Brown came on to N.Z. "What a blessing it was for us, when you consider what Brown and the members of his family have accomplished in the field of engineering."


Captain T. W. Whitwell who was master of the Tasmanian Maid when she was engaged in the Maori wars, was a man who commanded most of the Anchor ships of his day but whose name will always be associated with the Charles Edward.


Will Rodgers, that versatile sailorman and shipping administrator, the man who swam ashore when the Murray was a near wreck at Hokitika, had to fight against wild dogs during his trek along the coast to Greymouth, made history in the Waverly when she went to the assistance of the Ruapehu stranded on Farewell Spit and also the man who miraculously became the master and pilot of the Helen Denny for a few brief hours.


Captain George Lambert, "Three Finger Jack," who brought the Arahura out on her maiden voyage to N.Z., a legendary figure around Nelson. Had the distinction of being presented by Arahura passengers with a pipe on which was inscribed, "In memory of Halley's comet. 19.5.10," and was so well written up in Doorly's book, "In the Wake."





Captain A. H. Davey of Awatea fame, who first visited Nelson when an able seaman in Frederick P. Litchfield, an American barque; who came out as chief officer of the Anchor Co.'s Alexander on her maiden voyage under Captain Thomas; who visited Nelson many times in Union Co. ships and became a life long friend of Will Rodgers; and because he accepted every situation in his nautical career as a challenge, has become one of the greatest New Zealand born sailormen this country has ever seen.


Mr. Kirk concluded his address by stating that his six years' experience as a shipping columnist had convinced him that the average N.Z. citizen was extremely nautically minded. Perhaps this is not surprising in view of the fact that in spite of the development of aviation, this country still depends very largely on the services provided by its ships. Nelson, in common with most other places in the Dominion, has had a most interesting nautical history and although the pattern of shipping was constantly changing, he was sure that the Port of Nelson would hold its own.
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This article has been drawn from material used by Mr. Allan Kirk in a lecture given to the Nelson Historical Society on 29th September, 1965.
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The lecturer began his most interesting and instructive address by recalling a visit he had from a former Nelsonian, Mr. Arthur Sheat. Mr. Sheat was a descendant of the late F. J. Thompson who was a surveyor and had paid the N.Z. Company for 201 acres of land before leaving England. In company with his shipmate, J. W. Barnicoat, he later surveyed much of the land in the Wairau and Waimea Plains. Other interesting first class passengers who sat at the captain's table on this voyage out on the Lord Auckland were Mr. and Mrs. A. G. Jenkins, Mr. and Mrs. F. Otterson and Mr. Alfred Fell who kept a diary which has since been published. By no stretch of imagination could this voyage be called a wholly pleasant one, but they kept their minds exercised with periodic debates and other cultural activities. The master, Captain Jardine, did not make things any easier either; he was not at all popular and absolutely forbade any first class passenger to fraternise with the immigrants between decks. Still they survived and after a trip that started on 25th September, 1841, they finally arrived at Nelson on 23rd February, 1842.


"It is interesting to note that in February, 1842, 764 immigrants were landed at the port and by the end of the year the number had reached 2000. And while I pondered on this," said Mr. Kirk, "I thought it might be interesting to find out just how Nelson was faring with other ports of New Zealand during this early period of colonisation. I was amazed at what I found. During 1842 at least 12 immigrant ships arriving direct from England while Auckland had three and Wellington five. In the first four years it was Nelson 31, Auckland 8, New Plymouth 5, Wellington 15 while Lyttelton and Port Chalmers had none. During 1858, sixteen years after the founding of the settlement, Nelson was still holding its own when the figures in the same order were: 52, 66, 54, 78, 37 and 28, and although Nelson's figures tapered off in later years, the interesting fact remains that sailing ships scheduled to travel from Britain to Nelson direct, kept coming till a little past the turn of the century.


"During this particular period of maritime history, there were some remarkable performances put up by many of these ships and some equally remarkable captains. Outstanding amongst these was Captain Petheridge who became a regular visitor to Nelson in such vessels as Maori, Napier and the Countess of Kintore. He took the Maori as a brand new ship to Nelson in 1851, again in 1853 on a passage of 88 days; but in the barque Napier he put up an all time record by covering the same distance in 83 days. This was in 1863 and it was on this same trip that he brought 70 pairs of starlings, skylarks, blackbirds, thrushes, goldfinches for your provincial Government.





"Other interesting vessels to make direct trips were Edwin Fox, which has so recently burst into the news again, in 1878; the Halcione with five visits, 1887–94; May Queen, 1885 and 1886, later wrecked at Lyttelton Heads in 1888; Lutterworth, 6 visits 1876–94; Hermione, 4 visits 1895–1904; Helen Denny, 4 visits 1876–94; Asterion, 10 visit 1887–99; and Mataura, the first N.Z. Shipping Co. vessel to carry frozen meat io U.K., 1875. There was keen competition between the rival companies for the honour of carrying the first cargo of frozen meat to England and in the end, it was the Shaw SaviN's Dunedin thai won the race. On the other hand it is also recorded the Maiaura did in fact try out her freezer first when on her outward journey to N.Z., a strange fish was caught in mid-Atiantic and kept in good condition till the vessel arrived in Lyttelton when it was handed over to (he Canterbury Museum—a fact that has been confirmed by Dr. R. A. Faiia, now in charge of the Dominion Museum. The fish turned out to be a bona fide tuna.


"Another notable vessel to visit Neison in 1905 and 1906 was the ship Westiand. Under the indomitable Captain Kelly she made history in winning many of the wool ship races but her most notable performance occurred in 1894. She was the last of 20 sailing vessels to leave New Zealand loaded with wool, yet she reached the Old Country 22 days ahead of any of the others, making 330 and 340 miles on several days and completing the distance in 72 days. In cases like this it could well be asked: 'Well, was it the ship or the master that was responsible for such performances'? The answer is dearly, 'both', with perhaps a little more emphasis on the master. Some masters are gifted in knowing just how much they can get Out of a vessel and this combined with their scientific knowledge of currents, tides and weather can make them more successful than others.


"There was another interesting ship that had special significance for Nelson, she was the Queen Bee. After making 10 trips to N.Z. and one to Nelson, she was bound for Nelson direct on her eleventh voyage when she stranded on Farewell Spit and became a total wreck, in the rescue operations that followed the well known steamships, Lady Barkiy, Lyttelton and Manawatu took part,


"What about the coastal and Tasman trade to and from Australia? For a long time Nelsonians had to be satisfied with schooners, brigantines and ketches., including the little schooner, Comet, that made so many trips from Sydney to Nelson direct with sheep and cattle between 1848 and 1853; similarly with the barque Henrietta Nathan which carried out like missions and the Lady Mary Pelham which on one occasion brought 1,000 ewes and seven msres across from Launceston. It was a great achievement to have done this with so few losses.







[image: S.S.A. Co. barque Asterion being towed through old Entrance by Anchor Co.'s Charles Edward (about year 1890).—Tyree Collection.]
S.S.A. Co. barque 

Asterion being towed through old Entrance by Anchor Co.'s 
Charles Edward (about year 1890).

—Tyree Collection.
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Cutters, ketches and two topsail schooners at Waitapu wharf, Golden Bay (about year 1880).

Can ony reader identify these vessels?

—Tyree Collection







"The first steamships to arrive at Nelson were from Her Majesty's avy. The Inflexible, 1847, was the first steamship to enter the port and while this was followed by Havannah, Calliope and Pandora, it was H.M.S. Acheron that carried out the first survey of Nelson harbour from 24th August to 5th September, 1849. This turned out to be a most valuable piece of work and although further surveys have since been made, this was, at least, a start.


"Then came the first commercial steamer in the shape of the S.S. Ann on Sunday, 28th August, 1853, after a voyage of seven days from Sydney. This gave the people of Nelson fresh ideas and for the next few years they were loud in their demands for steamships. But although there were half-hearted attempts to satisfy this demand, the fact remains that they had to wait for another five years before these steamships came regularly. In the meantime they had to be satisfied with brigantines and schooners."


Mr. Kirk referred to Superintendent Stafford's efforts to get steamer services for Nelson without much success and then continued: "But it just so happened that Nelson got its coastal and transTasman steamer services from a most unexpected source. A company styling itself with the impressive title of The International Royal Mail Steam Packet Co., entered the scene with its steamers Prince Alfred, Lord Worsley, Lord Ashley and Airedale, and what is more, Nelson became the first and last port of call for those that crossed the Tasman and was nearly always included by this company's costai vessels. All this started in 1858.


"Other companies entered the field and towards the mid-sixties, it seemed that Nelson had almost a surfeit of steamships and apart from the four already mentioned there were such familiar names as Wellington, Taranaki, Lady Bird and Stormbird. Then in 1875 the arrival of McMeekan and Blackwood's fine vessels Ringarooma and Arawata. In this same year the Union Steam Ship Company of N.Z was formed and its first contribution to the trade of Nelson was with the Maori 1, which completely circumnavigated the South Island every fortnight—tarting at Port Chalmers proceeding north via Oamaru, Timaru, Akaroa, Lyttelton, Wellington, etc. But although Nelson may have had to thank the Union Company for many blessings over the years, it was this same line that discontinued the practice of making Nelson the last port of call for Australia.


"In spite of difficulties, however, Nelson was still included in the long coastal runs which for many years followed the original pattern up the east coast of the South Island and then up the west of the North Island to Onehunga and return. In later years the Union Company inaugurated a very regular service between Wellington and Nelson via Picton and at the same time ran another two passenger ships right through to Westport and Greymouth with calls here on the way. How well oldtimers remember those popular vessels, Penguin, Mawhera, Mapourika, Arahura, Rotoiti, Pateena and others which served this port so well.





"In the year 1921, the Union Company began gradually to withdraw its passenger vessels from the Nelson run when the Anchor Company purchased the Mapourika and renamed her Ngaio. By 1925 when a similar bid was made by our Nelson company for the Arahura, the Union Company confined its service to cargo vessels. From that year till 1953 the steamer express service to Wellington was provided by the Anchor Shipping Company.


"Perhaps I should have mentioned the Anchor Company a little earlier in this recital; but I make brief reference to it now. I say "brief" because as most of you will realise, the record of this company is a story in itself. It did for the ports of Cook Strait, Tasman Bay and the West Coast much the same as the Northern Steam Ship Co. did for the Auckland Province. In fact the debt that the earlier settlers of the Nelson and Westland Provinces owe to the Anchor Company is immeasurable.


"Celebrating its centennial in 1962, the Anchor Company is now the oldest established shipping company in New Zealand."


Mr. Kirk then turned his attention to important sailormen who made notable contributions to the welfare of the district. He first mentioned Alexander Brown, that remarkable young man who came out on the Lyttelton and had arranged to be put ashore at Queenstown, Ireland, following the vessel's protracted and devastating journey down the English Channel; but the captain could not make this port so Brown came on to N.Z. "What a blessing it was for us, when you consider what Brown and the members of his family have accomplished in the field of engineering."


Captain T. W. Whitwell who was master of the Tasmanian Maid when she was engaged in the Maori wars, was a man who commanded most of the Anchor ships of his day but whose name will always be associated with the Charles Edward.


Will Rodgers, that versatile sailorman and shipping administrator, the man who swam ashore when the Murray was a near wreck at Hokitika, had to fight against wild dogs during his trek along the coast to Greymouth, made history in the Waverly when she went to the assistance of the Ruapehu stranded on Farewell Spit and also the man who miraculously became the master and pilot of the Helen Denny for a few brief hours.


Captain George Lambert, "Three Finger Jack," who brought the Arahura out on her maiden voyage to N.Z., a legendary figure around Nelson. Had the distinction of being presented by Arahura passengers with a pipe on which was inscribed, "In memory of Halley's comet. 19.5.10," and was so well written up in Doorly's book, "In the Wake."





Captain A. H. Davey of Awatea fame, who first visited Nelson when an able seaman in Frederick P. Litchfield, an American barque; who came out as chief officer of the Anchor Co.'s Alexander on her maiden voyage under Captain Thomas; who visited Nelson many times in Union Co. ships and became a life long friend of Will Rodgers; and because he accepted every situation in his nautical career as a challenge, has become one of the greatest New Zealand born sailormen this country has ever seen.


Mr. Kirk concluded his address by stating that his six years' experience as a shipping columnist had convinced him that the average N.Z. citizen was extremely nautically minded. Perhaps this is not surprising in view of the fact that in spite of the development of aviation, this country still depends very largely on the services provided by its ships. Nelson, in common with most other places in the Dominion, has had a most interesting nautical history and although the pattern of shipping was constantly changing, he was sure that the Port of Nelson would hold its own.
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Isel


by J. N. W. 
Newport


The purchase of Isel by the Nelson City Council has preserved for the City and Province a wonderful setting for our new Provincial Museum. Perhaps James Wilfred Marsden did a greater job than he realised when he created the atmosphere of an old English estate—irstly by building with stones from the Poorman's Valley Stream and secondly by planting the grounds in a great variety of trees.


James Marsden inherited the property from his father, Thomas Marsden, who was an early settler in Nelson. Accompanied by his wife Thomas arrived in Nelson on the ship Prince of Wales in 1842. Their home was built on the site now occupied by the Marsden Church House (Nelson Diocesan Office) and it was here that James Wilfred Marsden and his two sisters were born.


After living six years in the infant settlement of Nelson town the family moved out to the property which became known as Isel. The 1849 Census gives the name of Thomas Marsden in the list for Suburban South. According to the New Zealand Company records Section 50, Suburban South, was selected by Robert Monro Walkinshaw, Order of Choice No. 46. He must have been an absentee owner. Under the scheme of July, 1847, Section 50, together with sections 45 and 47, was awarded to Thomas Marsden for his rural choice.


On a transfer agreement for a small section of land sold in 1853 Thomas Marsden's address was given as Isel Cottage, Suburban South. Marsden came from Cumberland where the name of Isel can be found but there is no indication that there was a family connection. Thomas Marsden was born at Hensingham, Cumberland, in 1810, being the only son of James Marsden, of Hathersage, Derbyshire. (I noticed with some interest that the late Jonathan Brough made the following comment in his diary when he was visiting the north of England in 1897: "July 10, went to Red Main. July 11, went for long ramble about Isel Hall, through the old church yard and along the Derwent. What an ancient old place Isel Hall is.)


It is said that Marsden first started building his home in Poorman's Valley, near the present cemetery site. After a severe gale blew down the framework it was decided to build elsewhere and 

this resulted in the selection of the present site. At that time Marsden owned all Poorman's Valley except for Doidge's Bush, taking in all the flat and rolling country but not the hills.


It was Thomas who planned the actual park and he was responsible for the earlier plantings, these trees being now well over a century old.


The first school at Stoke, then known as Brook Green, was built on the Marsden property to the north of the Poorman's Valley Stream, about opposite where the doctor's surgery now is. Possibly it had first been sited there without legal sanction as ownership was somewhat sketchy in 1848. About 1850 or 1851 Thomas Marsden allowed the school to be moved to a position south of the Poorman's Valley Stream, the site now occupied by the St. Barnabas' Anglican Church. At a public meeting early in 1858 Thomas Marsden offered to deed this land to the Nelson School Society but this offer could not have been accepted as in January, 1864, the land was conveyed to the Church authorities for the use as a site for church and burial ground. The witness to Marsden's signature was William Beatson, the architect. The church was built and was opened in 1866.


The school had been built partly of stone, with a slate roof and, when pulled down the stone was incorporated in the church building. No doubt a great deal more was required.


Thomas Marsden continued to farm the property until 1878 when in December of that year he died following an accident. While travelling over the Bishopdale Hill his horse took fright at the sudden whistle of the train and overturned the carriage. He stated that he was not hurt but soon afterwards he collapsed and died.


James Marsden would have been about 34 years old when his father died and he took over the property. He was born in Nelson in 1844, and had been one of the early pupils at Nelson College. An interesting sidelight on his early life is the fact that he used to walk to College every day as his father said they could not afford to buy him a pony.


It was after the death of his father that James Marsden had the stone front built on to the home, this possibly being done about 1880. A recent article in the "Nelson Evening Mail" stated that the work was carried out by Robert Tibbie and Robert Henry under the direction of Mr. Marsden and that these men walked out from Nelson each morning and walked home again at night for six days a week while working there. (Another informant stated that it was Peter Henry and not Robert Henry who worked there).





It was said that in his younger days James Marsden was a very hard worker and did a great deal of the work round the place himself. His trees were one of his great interests in life and to get them established he watered them in dry weather. James continued to farm the property and he had stud flocks of several breeds of sheep, being a keen exhibitor at the annual show. He was President of the Nelson Agricultural and Pastoral Association in 1896.


In his later years he leased out the farm except for the homestead and front paddocks. The agreement laid down clearly that the land was to be kept clean and the fences in good order. Two windmills were to be kept in good order and certain patches of trees were to be preserved.


Early in the present century James Marsden and his sister, Frances Charters Marsden, inherited a substantial estate upon the death in England, of Joseph Charters Brown. About 1905 Mr. Marsden had a large new addition built in stone on the south western corner of his home and, when later the valuable collection of chinaware, paintings and furniture arrived from England, room had already been provided. The new extension to the building was erected by Robertson Brothers of Nelson.


One lady who had been a frequent visitor at Isel stated that Mr. Marsden always had guns about the home and she mentioned that it was not unusual to be awakened very early in the morning by the noise of a gun blast. It was Mr Marsden shooting at the blackbirds in his garden from his bedroom window.


James Marsden married late in life, his wife being Miss Mary Rosemary Rees, matron of the Wairau Hospital, Blenheim. They had no family.


In December, 1908, there were celebrations when the Marsden Recreational Ground at Stoke was opened, but certainly no one then could have visualised that half a century later an area of Mr. Marsden's property would become the Greenmeadows Park, now in constant use by sports bodies.


Mr. Marsden always used an English dogcart and bob-tailed horse. He had no use for mechanical inventions but, upon the death of his sister in 1918, he inherited her motor car and driver. It was said that he never looked comfortable as he sat up stiff and erect as he was driven along.





Those who knew Mr. Marsden well in his later life remember him as a courtly old gentleman. He had a profound knowledge of New Zealand trees and birds, and with his encyclopediac mind, he could remember when all the fences and buildings on the place were erected.


His two loves were his trees and his library. In his older years he lived the life of a country gentleman. He was well read and was an authority on many subjects. Living rather a secluded life he was almost regarded as a recluse by many of the local residents.


Unfortunately there are now no people who remember James Marsden in his more able years. Some only remember him as an aged man who was very jealous of his property rights and who chased out the boys who trespassed along the creek through his property.


Imagine the consternation of these same lads when in 1921 the first aeroplane to arrive in Nelson settled on Mr. Marsden's paddock. Why, the pilot and even some of the onlookers climbed over Mr. Marsden's paling fence—it was an unheard of offence. To make the picture even more realistic Mr. Marsden's gardener arrived with a message to say that the plane was to leave immediately.


James Wilfred Marsden died in 1926, leaving a substantial estate. So far as the property was concerned the Nelson Diocese received the residence and 52 acres of land with a stipulation that the trees round the estate should be treated with solicitious care. The Cawthron Institute received 65 acres of land for "the encouragement and advancement of agriculture and forestry, the experimental cultivation of useful trees and shrubs, of grain, grasses, and forage plants, roots, pulse and potatoes, and other subjects connected with agricultural farming and research …'" and so on. He also stipulated that certain trees were to be preserved.


Unfortunately slump conditions some few years later created a situation where both the Diocesan authorities and the Cawthron Trust Board found it expedient to dispose of the property.


It is extremely fortunate that the Nelson City Council has now redeemed at least some mistakes of the past and preserved the homestead area. The three large Canary Island Pines at the Marsden Road entrance to Isel, which Mr. Marsden always referred to as the Three Graces, were felled when that area was cleared for building sections.





Isel Park contains the oldest mixed stand of conifers in New Zealand and at least seven of them are known to be the biggest of their species in the Dominion. Isel Park is especially attractive because there are no lines of trees and Mr. Marsden when he planted them was not concerned about grouping them. Planted about the property without relation to pattern the absence of any attempt at planning adds to the attraction of the stand.


The Nelson City Council Reserves Department now maintains displays of roses, irises and bedding plants and the park is one which might easily be the envy of other cities.
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